FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
11/30/2021 4:39 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/1/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100422-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II: No. 54413-0-II (consolidated with No. 54833-0-II)

SERPANOK CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Respondent,

V.

POINT RUSTON, LLC; POINT RUSTON PHASE II, LLC; CENTURY CONDOMINIUMS, LLC; and MICHAEL COHEN,

Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jack B. Krona Jr.

j_krona@yahoo.com

Law Offices of Jack B. Krona Jr.

6509 46th Street NW

Gig Harbor, WA 98335

Telephone: (253) 341-9331

Telephone: (253) 341-9331

Andrew R. Escobar

aescobar@seyfarth.com

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	ARGUMENT8
	A. An arbitration award must be vacated when the Arbitrator exceeds his or her powers
	B. The Arbitrator found Serpanok perpetrated an illegal kickback scheme in connection with the Building 1A and Garage subcontracts (which violates public policy)
	C. The COA's decision conflicts with previous Supreme Court and published COA decisions on the standards to vacate an award based on public policy 19
	D. This Petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Washington Supreme Court
VI.	CONCLUSION30

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
Amtruck Factors v. Int'l Forest Prods., 59 Wn. App. 8, 795 P.2d 742 (1990)passim
Becker v. Community Health Systems, Inc., 184 Wn.2d 252, 359 P.3d 746 (2015)
Boyd v. Morgan Stanley DW, Inc., 169 Wn.2d 231, 236 P.3d 182 (2010)
Clark County Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, Local 125, 150 Wn.2d 237, 76 P.3d 248 (2003)
Excel Handbag Co. v. Edison Bros. Stores, 630 F.2d 379 (5th Cir. 1980)
Federated Servs. Ins. Co. v. Pers. Representative of Estate of Norberg, 101 Wn. App. 119, 4 P.3d 844 (2000)
GMB Enters., Inc. v B-3 Enters., Inc., 695 P.2d 145 (1985)
Golberg v. Sanglier, 96 Wn.2d 874, 639 P.2d 1347, 647 P.2d 489 (1982)
Int'l Union of Operating Eng'rs, AFL-CIO, Local 286 v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 712, 295 P.3d 736 (2013)

No. 17,
35 Wn. App. 280, 666 P.2d 928 (1983)
Kitsap County Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Kitsap County,
167 Wn.2d 428, 219 P.3d 675 (2009)9
Phillips Chem. v. Morgan, 440 So.2d 1292 (1983)29
Reed v. Johnson, 27 Wn. 42, 67 P. 381 (1901)21
Sherwood & Roberts-Yakima, Inc. v. Cohan, 2 Wn. App. 703, 469 P.2d 574 (1970)12
Sinnar v. Le Roy, 44 Wn.2d 728, 270 P.2d 800 (1954)26
Waring v. Lobdell, 63 Wn.2d 532, 387 P.2d 979 (1964)25
Statutes
RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d)
RCW 9A.68.060
Other Authorities
35 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS LAW REPORT 1
100 A.L.R.5 th 481 (Originally published in 2002)
3 CALLMAN ON UNFAIR COMP., Tr. & MONO § 12:2 (4th Ed. 2019)

(1962)
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY § 313 (1958) 11, 18, 22
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 774 (1979) 11, 22
RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF AGENCY § 8.01 (2006)
RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF RESTITUTION AND UNJUST ENRICHMENT § 43 (2011)

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners are Point Ruston, LLC ("PR"), Point Ruston Phase II, LLC ("PR Phase II"), and Copperline Condominiums, LLC ("Copperline") (collectively the "Point Ruston Parties").

II. THE DECISION DESIGNATED FOR REVIEW

The Point Ruston Parties seek review of the September 14, 2021, Opinion issued by the Washington Court of Appeals, Division II ("COA"), affirming the Superior Court's confirmation of an arbitration award and denying the Point Ruston Parties' motion to vacate the award.¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue One: RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) requires a court to vacate an arbitration award when the arbitrator exceeds its powers, such as when the award violates public policy. Washington has a strong public policy that bars a contracting

1

¹ See RAP 13.4. On November 1, 2021, the COA denied Petitioners' Motion to Publish.

party from profiting from commercial bribery or illegal kickback schemes. The fundamental issue on review is whether the COA erred when it determined that Washington's public policy against enforcing contracts tainted by a kickback scheme is trumped by the competing policy of arbitration finality, and whether the COA should have held that the arbitrator exceeded his powers by issuing an award that held a party liable for paying kickbacks but still permitted the kickback-paying party to enforce the bribetainted contracts.

Issue Two: The arbitrator ruled that Serpanok's payment of *at least* \$80,000 in kickbacks to the Point Ruston Parties' Construction Manager did not give rise to a civil cause of action with tort remedies to further the public policy embodied by RCW 9A.68.060 (Criminal Commercial Bribery), because he determined that Washington's common law was not sufficiently clear to recognize a public policy tort or a private right of action. This Court should decide whether RCW 9A.68.060 provides an implied private right of action—as courts elsewhere have done

for commercial bribery—or, alternatively, whether it supplies a clear public policy sufficient to support a common-law public-policy tort.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Serpanok Construction, Inc. ("Serpanok") was the primary concrete subcontractor on several key phases of the Point Ruston project, which sits on the former Asarco smelter EPA Superfund site in Ruston and Tacoma, Washington. Larry Hutchinson was the Construction Manager for the project, who the Arbitrator found owed fiduciary duties to the Point Ruston Parties. In fact, Hutchinson was the Point Ruston Parties' highest-ranking construction official and was responsible for, among other things: negotiating the Point Ruston Parties' subcontracts with Serpanok; establishing the project's budgets; supervising and approving Serpanok's work; and negotiating and approving change orders on Serpanok's subcontracts during his entire tenure as Construction Manager. (E.g., CP 1472.)

Hutchinson arranged for Serpanok to be awarded two multi-million dollar commercial fixed-cost construction concrete subcontracts (generally referred to as the "Building 1A" and "Garage" subcontracts). (CP 1462, 1476, 1545, 1662.) Over a two-year period, Hutchinson also executed a multitude of change orders in favor of Serpanok (which increased the fixed price of these subcontracts by millions of dollars). (E.g., CP 1148–49.) After Serpanok completed the Building 1A subcontract, but before it completed its work on the Garage subcontract, the Point Ruston Parties became suspicious of the relationship between Hutchinson and Serpanok and a dispute arose. (CP 1149–50 [dispute overview]; CP 1169 [Building 1A lien untimely based on Serpanok's completion of contract work on Building 1A by November 2015]; CP 1472, 1438 [Hutchinson was Construction Manager from November 2013 to November 2015].)

On October 18, 2019, Arbitrator Thomas Brewer issued an Award (the "Award") finding that Serpanok paid over \$80,000 in kickbacks to the Point Ruston Parties' Construction Manager,

Larry Hutchinson, to induce him to continuously breach his fiduciary duties to his principals from November 2013 to November 2015. (CP 1171.) The Arbitrator also found these fiduciary duty breaches were "inextricably intertwined with" and directly "concerned" the Building 1A and Garage subcontracts by finding he had jurisdiction under these subcontracts to issue this Award. (CP 1152–54.) The Arbitrator found that Serpanok's illegal conduct justified disgorging not only the amount of the illegal bribes, but also every penny of Hutchinson's salary for every day Hutchinson worked on the project from the time the Point Ruston Parties hired him until the time they fired him. (CP 1172.) Thus, the Arbitrator effectively found that Hutchinson was secretly working for Serpanok every day he was negotiating and signing Serpanok's subcontracts and change orders and overseeing its work on behalf of the Point Ruston Parties. (CP 1172.) The Arbitrator found:

[Serpanok paid] approximately \$80,000 [to] Mr. Hutchinson...for the improper purpose of attempting to procure favorable change order

accommodations [on the Building 1A and Garage subcontracts, which are the only subcontracts at issue], induce Hutchinson to share confidential PR information improperly with Serpanok, and assist Serpanok in submitting change order pricing estimates...or for the purpose *of rewarding* Mr. Hutchinson for his reports that he had engaged or would engage in such conduct.

CP at 1174 (emphasis added).²

The Arbitrator also sanctioned Serpanok \$500,000 for destroying evidence during the arbitration's discovery phase to hide its illegal kickbacks and then lying about the evidence under oath during the arbitration's hearing. (CP 1180–81.)

Despite finding that Serpanok engaged in a "deplorable" course of conduct by paying Hutchinson approximately \$80,000 in kickbacks—Serpanok made these payments both before contract formation and over the course of the next two years of construction and contract performance—the Award nevertheless enforced the subcontracts connected to Serpanok's kickback

6

² Citations to "CP" refer to the Clerk's Papers prepared by the trial court.

scheme and awarded Serpanok several million dollars in contract profit (CP 1172, 1188–89), which, based on Serpanok's accounting records, represented a *grossly* inflated profit margin by industry standards. (*E.g.*, CP 2132–40.)

The Superior Court confirmed the Award (CP 2711–13) and entered judgment against the Point Ruston Parties, after applying offsets, for more than \$5,000,000. (CP 2888–90). The Superior Court also foreclosed on Serpanok's mechanics' lien against the Garage, which rewarded Serpanok with a commercial garage that it built for the Point Ruston Parties while perpetrating the two-year-long kickback scheme. (CP 2888–90.)

The COA affirmed the Superior's Court's judgment. In doing so, it allowed Serpanok to reap millions in illicit profits by, effectively, re-writing the Arbitrator's justification for enforcing subcontracts tainted by kickbacks. (Appx. 26–28.) In doing so, the COA held that the arbitrator had discretion to craft equitable relief that "did not allow Serpanok to walk away from its kickback scheme unpunished" but that still permitted Serpanok

to otherwise enforce the kickback-tainted contracts for millions of dollars more. (Appx. 28–29.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. An arbitration award must be vacated when the Arbitrator exceeds his or her powers.

Courts review arbitration awards only in limited circumstances, such as when an arbitrator exceeds his or her powers. *See Clark County Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, Local 125*, 150 Wn.2d 237, 245, 76 P.3d 248 (2003). Review is limited to support arbitration finality and to encourage alternative dispute resolution. *See id*.

Nevertheless, *limited* review is not the same as *no* review, as a court's basic function is to correct manifest errors of law and to enforce important public policies. Thus, Washington law is clear that an arbitrator exceeds its powers when it enters an award based on a manifest error apparent from the face of the award. *See Federated Servs. Ins. Co. v. Pers. Representative of Estate of Norberg*, 101 Wn. App. 119, 123, 4 P.3d 844 (2000). And, like any contract, an arbitration award must be vacated if it violates

public policy. See RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) Washington's (arbitrator cannot exceed his or her powers); Kitsap County Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Kitsap County, 167 Wn.2d 428, 435, 219 P.3d 675 (2009) ("We now join the federal and other state courts in adopting the narrow public-policy exception to enforcing arbitration decisions."); Kennewick Educ. Ass'n v. Kennewick Sch. Dist. No. 17, 35 Wn. App. 280, 282, 666 P.2d 928 (1983) (vacating arbitration decision that awarded punitive damages because it violated public policy and thus exceeded arbitrator's powers). Courts treat an arbitration award as if it were part of the contract, and such a decision will be vacated if it violates an "explicit," "well defined," and "dominant" public policy. See Kitsap County Deputy Sheriff's Guild, 167 Wn.2d at 435; see also Int'l Union of Operating Eng'rs, AFL-CIO, Local 286 v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 712, 721–25, 295 P.3d 736 (2013) (laws against discrimination clearly define explicit and dominant public policies).

B. The Arbitrator found Serpanok perpetrated an illegal kickback scheme in connection with the Building 1A and Garage subcontracts (which violates public policy).

The Arbitrator found that Serpanok aided and abetted Hutchinson's breaches of his fiduciary duties and that, "during the relevant two-year period, the principals [i.e., the Point Ruston Parties | did not consent to or ratify those breaches of fiduciary duty." (CP at 1171.) The Arbitrator found facts that show Serpanok violated every element of Washington's criminal commercial bribery statute. See RCW 9A.68.060(2)(a) ("A person is guilty of commercial bribery if . . . he or she offers, confers, or agrees to confer a pecuniary benefit directly or indirectly upon a trusted person under a request, agreement, or understanding that the trusted person will violate a duty of fidelity or trust arising from his or her position as a trusted person.").

By making commercial bribery a felony, the Legislature expressed the strong policy protecting relationships of trust from interference. This legislative policy is consistent with the

common law of torts, contracts, and agency, which developed recognizing that commercial transactions depend on an agent's loyalty, fidelity and trust to the principal. Violating these duties creates the presumption that the transaction is unfair and that profits must be disgorged when a third party interferes with the trust relationship. See, e.g., RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF AGENCY § 8.01 (2006) (agent has a fiduciary duty to act loyally for principal's benefit in all matters connected with agency relationship); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY § 313, cmt. a (1958) (agreement between agent and another party to violate agent's fiduciary duties is illegal: "the transaction is fraudulent with respect to the first principal and that principal is entitled to the remedies given for fraud"); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 774, cmt. b & illustration 3 (1979) (no recovery for breach for non-performance of contract tainted by bribery); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 193 (1962) (promise that induces breach of fiduciary duty is void against public policy); RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF RESTITUTION AND UNJUST

ENRICHMENT § 43, cmts. a & h (2011) (any benefit acquired or retained in violation of fiduciary duty must be given up to person to whom duty is owed; a party shall not be allowed to "profit" from the breach).

Thus, courts will not enforce a contract if it grows immediately out of an illegal act. See Golberg v. Sanglier, 96 Wn.2d 874, 879, 639 P.2d 1347, 647 P.2d 489 (1982). In Sherwood & Roberts-Yakima, Inc. v. Cohan, 2 Wn. App. 703, 710, 469 P.2d 574 (1970), the appellate court held that a contract which is not itself illegal but grows out of an illegal act may be enforced only if it is severable from the illegal transaction. A transaction is "severable" only if it is "remote, or collateral, or severable from the antecedent illegal transactions so that the enforcement of the agreements sued upon (the warranties) does not result in sanction of the original illegal contract, or conflict with the policy against enforcing illegal contracts." See Sherwood, 2 Wn. App. at 713–14.

In *Amtruck Factors v. Int'l Forest Prods.*, the appellate court held that intentional participation in a kickback scheme renders agreements arising out of the scheme void for illegality and serves as a complete defense to unpaid bills connected to the scheme. *See Amtruck Factors v. Int'l Forest Prods.*, 59 Wn. App. 8, 795 P.2d 742 (1990) (citing *Phillips Chem. v. Morgan*, 440 So.2d 1292, 1296 (1983) and *Frohlich & Newell Foods, Inc. v. New Sans Souci Nursing Home*, 109 Misc.2d 974, 441 N.Y.S.2d 335, 338 (1981)).

Here, the face of the Arbitrator's award shows that Hutchinson was acting as Serpanok's undisclosed double-agent for the entire two years he was the Point Ruston Parties' Construction Manager, and that Serpanok induced his fiduciary duty breaches every day from November 2013 through November 2015. (CP 1171; *see also* CP 1472 & CP 1839). The Arbitrator had jurisdiction to make this finding only after he determined that the Point Ruston Parties' claims for breach of fiduciary duties were "inextricably intertwined with" and

"concern" the Building 1A and Garage subcontracts, as those subcontracts provided the only basis for the Arbitrator's power to act at all. (CP 1152–54.)³ If the Arbitrator had determined that the fiduciary breaches at issue were unrelated to, severable from, or collateral to the two subcontracts at issue, he would not have been empowered to enter any relief at all on the Point Ruston Parties' claim for aiding and abetting Hutchinson's fiduciary duty breaches.

The Arbitrator's finding that Serpanok engaged in a kickback scheme was based on irrefutable evidence that, during the two-year period, Hutchinson: (1) conspired with Serpanok before his employment commenced until even after it ended to infiltrate Point Ruston and assist Serpanok in any way possible to gain an unfair advantage on everything related to the

-

³ See also CP 1154 ("All of the claims and counterclaims asserted in this arbitration by the parties listed in the caption above and addressed in this award constitute disputes 'concerning this Agreement' within the meaning of the relevant arbitration clauses, referenced above, in the two subcontracts.").

Building 1A and Garage subcontracts (Compare CR 1462 with CR 1472, 1476, 1770–74, 1838–39, 1841–42); (2) set the construction budgets for Building 1A and the Garage projects (E.g., CR 534, 1489); (3) leaked the Building 1A and Garage budgets to Serpanok and disclosed the Point Ruston Parties' confidential negotiating positions (CR 334–36, 536–40, 1485– 87, 1489, 1493–96, 1570–71, 1781); (4) surreptitiously drafted Serpanok's bids relating to Building 1A and the Garage (CR 339–51, 1518–19, 1522–28, 2053–55); (5) disclosed confidential competitor bids so Serpanok could craft its bids at just under its competitors relating to Building 1A and the Garage (CR 327–31, 1510–13); (6) pretended to "negotiate" against Serpanok regarding subcontract bids and make the contract offer on behalf of the Point Ruston Parties relating to Building 1A and the Garage (CR 348, 1518, 1530–33, 1799–1800, 1812, 2057–59); (7) executed the Garage subcontract on behalf of the Point Ruston Parties while he was working for Serpanok (1662); (8) approved progress payments and Serpanok's work and allowed

Serpanok to bill ahead for unfinished work relating to Building 1A and the Garage (CP 540–42); (9) made undocumented "horse trades" with Serpanok that removed scopes of work from other subcontractors and that awarded that work to Serpanok, or that removed scopes of work from Serpanok without reducing the total contract price for the Building 1A and Garage subcontracts (CP 542–45, 1159, 1618, 1622, 1624–25); (10) approved change orders that increased the fixed-price contracts related to Building 1A and the Garage (CP 1291–93, 1592, 1606, 1627, 1673, 1675, 1677, 1696, 1703, 1805); and (11) all while Hutchinson accepted kickbacks from Serpanok over a two-year period, which were deposited into a limited liability company purportedly owned by Hutchinson's wife in an effort to conceal the payments from scrutiny. (CR 412–414, 656–74, 2063–68). Serpanok, in fact, coded these illicit payments under costs associated with Building 1A and the Garage (most likely to deduct the bribes on its taxes), and then altered evidence produced in discovery to hide the truth about these payments. (CR 1174–75.)

Despite the Arbitrators' findings that Serpanok bribed Hutchinson for two years from November 2013 through November 2015 (starting before contract formation and lasting until performance on the 1A subcontract was complete [CP 1169] "Serpanok completed its work under the Building 1A Subcontract in November 2015"), and that the Point Ruston Parties did not ratify or consent to the kickback scheme during this period [CP 1171], the Arbitrator enforced the subcontracts at issue and awarded Serpanok millions of dollars in contract damages because he found the Point Ruston Parties failed to prove "damages" proximately caused by the breach. (CP 1172.) The Arbitrator enforced the contracts and refused to award "restitutionary relief" like "disgorgement" of profits because of the alleged lack of proof of more concrete damages in connection with the "aiding and abetting misconduct." (CP 1172). The Arbitrator did not, however, find that the misconduct was "severable" from the contracts themselves, or "collateral" to them. (In fact, *all* of the evidence supporting the finding of aiding

and abetting was specifically connected with the Building 1A and Garage Subcontracts bidding process, contract performance, change orders, and payments coded by Serpanok to these specific jobs, and nothing else, *and this arbitration only concerned the Building 1A and Garage subcontracts*. (CP 1152–55.))

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