# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/28/2022 3:04 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100422-2

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SERPANOK CONSTRUCTION INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

v.

POINT RUSTON, LLC; POINT RUSTON PHASE II, LLC; CENTURY CONDOMINIUMS, LLC; and Loren Cohen, personal representative of the Estate of MICHAEL COHEN,

## Petitioners.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMESON PEPPLE CANTU SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S. PLLC

By: Alan Bornstein By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14275 WSBA No. 14355

801 2nd Ave Ste 700 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98104-1573 Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 292-1994 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

## D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals applied established precedent, refusing to go beyond the face of the Award to reassess the Arbitrator's findings that rejected Cohen's illegality defense after finding that the 20 Contract Documents were collateral to any alleged illegal kickback.

The appellate court is "bound by the arbitrator's findings of fact," which are verities for purposes of appeal. Int'l Union of Operating Engineers, Local 286 v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 712, 716, 724, 295 P.3d 736 (2013). Because arbitrators "become the judges of both the law and the facts," courts do not "look to the merits of the case, and they do not reexamine evidence." Salewski v. Pilchuck Veterinary Hosp., Inc., P.S., 189 Wn. App. 898, 904, 359 P.3d 884 (2015) (internal quotation and citation omitted), rev. denied, 185 Wn.2d 1006 (2016). Cohen pays lip service to a reviewing court's limited authority under RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) to set aside an award on the ground that "[a]n arbitrator exceeded the arbitrator's powers" (Pet. 1920), but ignores that bedrock principle by asking this Court to reweigh the evidence and to reach findings that the Arbitrator expressly rejected.

For instance, the Arbitrator (as well as the trial court) expressly rejected Cohen's current contention that by aiding Hutchinson's fiduciary-duty breach, "Serpanok violated every element of Washington's criminal commercial bribery statute. *See* RCW 9A.68.060(2)(a)." (Pet. 10) To the contrary, the Arbitrator found that Cohen failed to establish a violation of RCW 9A.68.060. (CP 2760-61, 2764) Cohen also ignores the trial court's unchallenged order, finding that Cohen's allegations lacked a threshold basis to establish probable cause for criminal bribery. (CP 1218-20, 1222-23)

In asserting that the Arbitrator's decision undermines public policy by enforcing an "illegal agreement," Cohen similarly asks this Court to disregard the Arbitrator's findings that Serpanok's misconduct did

not induce and was collateral to the 20 Contract Documents enforced in arbitration. But "[a]rbitrators do not act as junior varsity trial courts where subsequent appellate review is readily available to the losing party." Clark Cty. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, 150 Wn.2d 237, 246, 76 P.3d 248 (2003), quoting Nat'l Wrecking Co. v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, Local 731, 990 F.2d 957, 960 (7th Cir.1993). The Court of Appeals properly held it was bound by the Arbitrator's assessment of the facts, adhering to established precedent to reject Cohen's contention that the Award exceeded the Arbitrator's authority under RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d).

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any of the decisions cited by Cohen. For instance in *Int'l Union of Operating Engineers* (Pet. 21), this Court reinstated an arbitrator's decision that had reversed the termination of a port employee for conduct far more outrageous and abhorrent to public policy than that

involved here—a worker had placed a hangman's noose on the shop floor where it was plainly visible to a Black coworker in clear violation of the Port's antiharassment policy, holding "[w]e are bound by the arbitrator's findings of fact." 176 Wn.2d at 724.

Cohen also cites the "narrow exception" that allows a reviewing court to refuse to enforce an arbitration decision that violates public policy, recognized in Kitsap Cty. Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Kitsap Cty., 167 Wn.2d 428, 436, 219 P.3d 675 (2009) (Pet. 9). However, Cohen ignores that the Kitsap Court reversed a Court of Appeals decision vacating an arbitrator's award that reinstated an officer the county had fired for dishonesty. The Court held that a reviewing court lacked authority to vacate the arbitrator's award, which found that the officer engaged in dishonest, illegal conduct; there was no public policy requiring that an arbitration award terminate that officer's employment even for his illegal conduct. 167 Wn.2d at 437-39. Unlike in

*Kitsap*, the Arbitrator found that Serpanok did not engage in illegal conduct, but "deplorable conduct," that justified a compensatory award to Cohen of \$311,894, as a "reasonable estimate . . . to quantify the precise amount of [Cohen's] damages." (CP 2747, 2759)

The only cases cited by Cohen that vacate an arbitrator's award as contrary to law and policy (Pet. 8-9) do so because the arbitrator granted relief unavailable under Washington law. See Kennewick Educ. Ass'n v. Kennewick Sch. Dist. No. 17, 35 Wn. App. 280, 282, 666 P.2d 928 (1983) (arbitrator's award of punitive damages was, on its face, contrary to Washington law and public policy); Federated Services Ins. Co. v. Estate of Norberg, 101 Wn. App. 119, 125, 4 P.3d 844 (2000) (vacating arbitration award of loss of potential inheritance in survival action), rev. denied, 142 Wn.2d 1025 (2001). This Award, however, does not grant any relief barred by Washington law. Cohen instead challenges the Arbitrator's

application of the law of illegality to the facts of this particular case by challenging the Arbitrator's findings that Cohen failed to prove illegality.

Whatever traction Cohen's arguments might have in appellate review of a trial court's decision, that searching review is barred under the Washington Arbitration Act, as Division Three recently held, summarizing this Court's precedent:

Courts do not look to the merits of the case, and they do not reexamine evidence. Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc., 169 Wn.2d at 239, 236 P.3d 182. An arbitration award shall not be vacated if the appellant's argument cannot be decided without delving into the substantive merits of the claim. Davidson v. Hensen, 135 Wn.2d at 121, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998). . . . We do not reach the merits of the arbitrator's legal conclusions. Clark County Public Utility District No. 1 v. International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, 150 Wn.2d 237, 239, 76 P.3d 248 (2003). We do not even review the arbitration decision under an arbitrary and capricious standard. Yakima County v. Yakima County Law Enforcement Officers Guild, 157 Wn. App. 304, 318, 237 P.3d 316 (2010).

Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc. v. Barnes, Inc., 8 Wn. App.2d 594, 439 P.3d 662, rev. denied, 193 Wn.2d 1033 (2019).

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this Court's cases and those from the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The Court should deny review.

2. The Court of Appeals properly refused to vacate the Arbitrator's Award, which correctly enunciated and applied Washington contract law of illegality.

As the Court of Appeals held, Washington courts "generally do not enforce illegal . . . contracts that grow out of illegal acts," unless the contract is severable, that is "remote from or *collateral* to the illegal transaction, or is supported by independent consideration." (Op. 25, emphasis added, quoting *Golberg v. Sanglier*, 96 Wn.2d 874, 879, 639 P.2d 1347, 647 P.2d 138 (1983) and *Sherwood & Roberts-Yakima, Inc. v Cohan*, 2 Wn. App. 703, 710, 469 P.2d 574, *rev. denied*, 78 Wn.2d 994 (1970)). The Court of Appeals held that the Arbitrator "effectively

addressed severability" (Op. 26) by recognizing that an illegal agreement between Serpanok and Hutchinson does not "automatically invalidate other, collateral agreements." (CP 2765, discussing *State v. Pelkey*, 58 Wn. App. 610, 794 P.2d 1286 (1990)).

Cohen does not dispute this principle. And none of the cases cited by Cohen require a court to invalidate agreements that are collateral to one that is itself illegal or violates public policy. In Amtruck Factors, a Div. of Truck Sales, Inc. v. International Forest Products, 59 Wn. App. 8, 795 P.2d 742 (1990), rev. denied, 116 Wn.2d 1003 (1991), Division One relied on Sherwood & Roberts when it remanded for a factual determination whether a shipping company's agreements to haul lumber "were severable from the kickback scheme" of its employee. Amtruck Factors, 59 Wn. App. at 21 & n.3. In Pelkey, which the Arbitrator distinguished, the Court of Appeals refused to enforce an agreement that would require the court to order return of property given to a police officer as a bribe; the decision addressed the enforceability of "the agreement between Pelkey and Sgt. Brauch . . . ," not separate agreements, as here. 58 Wn. App. at 615.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected as semantics Cohen's contention that the Arbitrator's use of the terms "induce" or "collateral" rather than "severable," or what Cohen labels "the correct 'grows out of' or 'connected with' or 'tainted' standard" (Pet. 20), resulted in an award that "exceeded the arbitrator's powers" within the meaning of RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d).6 The Arbitrator nonetheless accurately summarized the contract principle of illegality, citing and distinguishing *Pelkey* in finding that the contracts here were collateral to, or not induced by, any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> At the Arbitration hearing, Cohen primarily relied on a claim of fraud to void the Contract Documents. If the Arbitrator failed to delve more deeply into the severability doctrine, it is only because Cohen waited until reconsideration to emphasize his illegality argument. (CP 2765)

disproven illegal agreement to pay Hutchinson. (CP 2764-66)

Cohen's argument that the Arbitrator "did not use the correct test" of illegality requires the court to ignore the Award or improperly review it on a de novo basis. The Arbitrator carefully evaluated the evidence in finding that the 20 Contract Documents were not only ratified after discovery of the misconduct (CP 2746),7 but that they were "collateral to" the illegal conduct engaged in by Hutchinson and Serpanok:

[Cohen] seeks to automatically invalidate other, collateral agreements—the two construction subcontracts and the Notes—that ran between [Serpanok] and [Cohen], to which Mr. Hutchinson was not a party.

. . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Cohen's ratification of the the Contract Documents, standing alone, defeats his illegality claim, *see Kessler v. Jefferson Storage Corp.*, 125 F.2d 108, 109-12 (6th Cir. 1941), and distinguishes this case from *Sinnar v. Le Roy*, 44 Wn.2d 728, 729, 270 P.2d 800 (1954) *or Pelkey*, 58 Wn. App. at 615, where the contract, itself, was illegal.

The collateral contracts that the motion seeks invalidate were entered into organizational parties with numerous top management officials in addition to Mr. Hutchinson, where Hutchinson's role in performance of the challenged collateral contracts was confined to only a portion of the relevant time period, where other top executives of [Cohen] reviewed the situation after Mr. Hutchinson left and approved change orders that had the effect of requiring [Serpanok] to complete performance as agreed under the subcontracts and change orders, and where [Cohen] received the benefits of millions of dollars of valuable work done by [Serpanok] at their insistence. [Cohen] failed to establish adequate causal link between misconduct found on the aiding and abetting counterclaim and the relief sought in the motion.

# (CP 2765-66)

When not ignoring the Arbitrator's findings, Cohen misrepresents them. For instance, the Arbitrator never found that Cohen's two subcontracts, 16 change orders, and two promissory notes to Serpanok were "inextricably intertwined" with Hutchinson's breach of fiduciary duty. (Pet. 5) Instead, he found that each of the "issues" arising

under the contracts were "intertwined" in making a threshold determination of arbitrability:

[A]ll of the counterclaims, whether based on the subcontracts, the Notes, the issues raised by the liens that were filed, and to the common law fraud and other tort-based and statutebased counterclaims, all of which "concern" the subcontracts and all of which raise issues that are inextricably intertwined with issues already determined to be arbitrable by the Court Order.

(CP 2741)

The Court of Appeals properly refused to look beyond the face of the Award to reject Cohen's contention that the Award itself renders an improper payment to Hutchinson "inextricably intertwined" with the contracts at issue in Arbitration. The Arbitrator found as a purely factual matter that those 20 Contract Documents were collateral to, and not induced by, the agreement between Serpanok and Hutchinson, and rejected Cohen's claim that these Contract Documents were void for illegality. The Court of Appeals decision refusing to vacate the Arbitrator's Award presents no grounds for review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

3. The Arbitrator did not exceed his authority to reject, on the law and the facts, Cohen's assertion of a public-policy tort based on RCW 9A.68.060(2)(a) that no Washington legislature or court has recognized.

The Court of Appeals properly held that "the arbitrator's decision not to grant relief under a novel theory of liability does not create a legal error on the face of the award." (Op. 32) The Arbitrator's refusal to recognize a novel "public policy tort claim" or "private right of action under RCW 9A.68.060" (Pet. 28) was justified both by the law and, independently, by his factual findings that are verities for purposes of appeal.

Unlike the well-established "tort for wrongful discharge against public policy" at issue in *Becker v. Cmty*. *Health Sys., Inc.*, 184 Wn.2d 252, 255, 359 P.3d 746 (2015) (Pet. 28), neither this Court nor legislature has established a private right of action based on the criminal-bribery statute. Cohen fails to explain how an Arbitrator's refusal to adopt a non-existent cause of action constitutes legal

error on the face of the Award. *Compare Federated Services Ins. Co. v. Estate of Norberg*, 101 Wn. App. at 125 (arbitrators recognized that their award of loss of potential inheritance in survival action lacked precedent and then invited judicial review).

Moreover, Cohen's novel "public policy tort" could not further the policies of advancing honesty and fair dealing in the construction industry, championed by Cohen, under the facts found by the Arbitrator here. The Arbitrator found that Cohen failed to establish that: (i) Serpanok acted with the requisite criminal intent (CP 2760-61, 2764), (ii) Serpanok's misconduct induced 20 Contract Documents based on a preponderance of evidence, or that (iii) those Contract Documents constituted "illegal contracts." (CP 2759, 2764-66) The trial court separately found no probable cause that Serpanok violated the criminal-bribery statute, rejecting Cohen's

motion for an order referring an alleged crime to the Pierce County Prosecutor. (CP 1218-20, 1222-23)

The Court of Appeals' holding that "the arbitrator did not commit facial legal error or exceed his authority" (Op. 32) in rejecting this novel claim based on unreviewable factual findings presents no issue of substantial public concern. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

4. The Court of Appeals properly held that the Arbitrator had authority to issue equitable relief and to assess damages for Serpanok's aiding a fiduciary-duty breach.

Contrary to Cohen's assertion, the Court of Appeals did not hold "the Arbitrator had the discretion to award contract damages despite the finding of an illegal scheme." (Pet. 23) To the contrary, the Court of Appeals held that the Arbitrator rejected the illegality defense on factual grounds and then properly crafted an equitable remedy. (Op. 29) That decision presents no ground for review.

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